1967

## The State of Utah v. Virgil S. Redmond : Appellant's Brief

### STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

Criminal prosecution for allegedly uttering a factitious check.

### DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Defendant was sentenced to a term in the State Prison after guilty verdict.

### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant seeks a new trial and an order compelling the prosecution to make available to him the other checks of the same series as the check charged in the information which have been gathered up by the police and are being suppressed by the prosecution and withheld from defendant.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

During April, 1964, Tom Stoker, a witness for the prosecution, opened a bank account (R. 185) under the name of Prudential Federal Adjusters (R 186) in a Salt Lake City Bank (Ex. 2 & 3) by representing himself as "C. Coon" (Ex 1), had checks imprinted with that name (R188), typed a large number of checks on that account each for approximately the same amount, each naming C. J. McCall as payee and each of which he signed Carl J. Coon except the check herein charged which he signed Cal J. Coon. (R 267-268). Approximately 50 checks were negotiated over a week-end from that series. (R 268) One such check was cashed at Makoff's. Defendant is charged herein with uttering that check.

The police and prosecution gathered up and withheld from defendant and his counsel all of the bank records pertaining to the bank account opened by Stoker and upon which said checks were drawn and all of the checks drawn on that account which were a part of the series mentioned above. (R 598). Without access to those records and checks defendant has been unable to learn the names of the persons who accepted checks of that series or to locate and identify persons who cashed those checks for use as witnesses to establish that it was a third person. and not the defendant, who cashed those checks and the check with which he is charged herein. (R 598)

Prior to preliminary hearing of this matter Judge Beck ordered the County Attorney to furnish said checks and other requested information pursuant to a demand for a bill of particulars. The checks and records were not furnished and defendant's motion to dismiss the complaint

for failure to furnish that information was heard before Judge Neeley who denied the motion. Judge Hanson of the District Court denied a petition for an extraordinary writ to compel furnishing of said checks and his decision was affirmed by this Court on appeal. *Redmond v. City Court*, 17 U2d 95, 404 P2d 964. In that decision the Court underscored the fact that said proceeding was taken in connection with a preliminary hearing and noted that it was on a petition for an extraordinary writ, apparently to indicate that we were not to be precluded from raising those questions in this appeal.

Defendant asked for substantially the same information in a request for a bill of particulars in the District Court (R596-603). Extensive arguments were heard by the Court (R 597-602; R 606-618) prior to trial concerning defendant's request for access to those checks, etc., however Judge Anderson ruled that evidence concerning checks other than the one charged in the information was not material to the issues in this case (R 615) after hearing argument from the prosecution to the effect that evidence concerning said other checks would be wholly inadmissible at the trial and immaterial to the issues (R 620-621) and denied defendant's motion for access to those checks. Defendant reasserted and reargued his motion for access to the other checks that were a part of said series of checks at the commencement of the trial (R 597-603; R 625), during the course of the trial (R 356-59) and also his motions for a continuance (R 358) and for a mistrial (R 358), all of which were denied by the Court.

At the time defendant was arraigned the information

charged him with uttering a check for the payment of money of C. J. McCall (R 1), however the information was amended when a co-defendant was arraigned to charge uttering a check for the payment of money of Carl J. Coon (R 1; R 605. Defendant has never been given a preliminary hearing on a charge pertaining to uttering a check for payment of money of Carl J. Coon.

At the time of arraignment defendant requested that the witnesses called at the trial be limited to those listed on the information or that defendant be furnished with the names of additional witnesses which the prosecution intended to call at the time of trial. (R 607). The District Attorney agreed to furnish the names of additional witnesses to be called at the trial as soon as they became known to him (R 607), however no additional names were endorsed on the information or furnished to the defendant. Defendant objected to calling of witnesses for the prosecution whose names had not been supplied (R 355-358), moved for a continuance or mistrial (R 358), however his motions were denied and approximately 14 additional prosecution witnesses who were not named in the information and who had not testified at the preliminary hearing were permitted to testify for the State. Many of these witnesses were persons who had cashed other check which were a part of the series sought by defendant, and were persons whose names were withheld from defendant by suppression of the other checks from defendant by the prosecution. Defendant had no opportunity to prepare to meet the testimony of these additional witnesses, much of which testimony was vague and indefinite.

The Court permitted the prosecution to introduce

other checks of the series which had been withheld by the prosecution from defendant into evidence and permitted persons whose identity had been withheld from defendant and suppressed by the State to testify and to allegedly identify the defendant as the person who cashed other checks of the series sought by defendant. (Ex 4 & 9). Defendant was unable to produce similar evidence from other persons who had cashed similar checks from that series because of suppression of the other checks from that series by the prosecution.

#### POINT I

IT IS A DENIAL OF DUE PROCESS OF LAW TO PERMIT THE PROSECUTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE FAVORABLE TO THE DEFENDANT

Suppression by prosecution of evidence favorable to defendant is a denial of due process, irrespective of the good or bad faith of the prosecution, 21 AM. Jur 2d, *Criminal Law* Sec. 225; 33 ALR2d 1421, and is a violation of the rights secured by the fifth amendments *Curtis v. Rives*, 75 Ap DC 66, 123 F2d 936 and of the fourteenth amendment to the U. S. constitution. *Mooney v. Holohan*, 294 US 103, 79 L.3d 79 L.ed. 791, 55 S Ct 340, 98 ALR 406, reh den 294 US 732, 79 L. ed 1261 55 S Ct 511; *Pyle v. Kansas*, *Mooney v. Holohan* (1935) 294 US 103, 79 L. ed. 791, 55 S Ct 340, 98 ALR 406, reh den 294 US 732, 79 L. ed. 1261, 55 S Ct 511; *Pyle v. Kansas* (1942) 317 US 213, 87 L. ed. 214, 63 S Ct 177; *White Thunder v. Hunter* (1945 CA 10th Kan) 149 R3d 578, cert den 325 US 889, 89 L. ed. 2002, 65 S Ct 1579, 141 F2d 500; *Pyle v. Amrine* (1945) 195 Kan 458, 156 P2d 509. cert den 328 US 749, 90 L. ed.

448, 66 S Ct 45, reh den 326 US 809, 90 L. ed. 493, 66 S Ct 165; U. S. ex rel. *Montgomery v. Ragen* (1949, DC Ill) 86 F. Supp 382; *Woollomes v. Heinze* (1952, CA 9th Cal) 198 F2d 577, cert den 344 US 929, 97 L. ed 715, 73 S Ct 499; *Burns v. Lovett* (1952) 91 App DC 208, 202 F2d 335, affd 346 US 137, 97 L. ed. 1508, 73 S Ct 1045; *White v. Ragen*, 324 US 760, 764, 65 S Ct 978, 89 L. ed. 1348; *Hysler v. Florida*, 315 US 411, 413, 316 US 642, 62 S Ct 688, 86 L. ed. 932; *Jones v. Kentucky*, 6 Cir, 97 F2d 335, 338; *Soulia v. O'Brien*, DC Mass, 94 F Supp 764. State courts considering deliberate suppression of evidence favorable to the accused have generally held that such conduct is a denial of due process. *Morhous v. Supreme Court of New York* (1944) 293 NY 131, 56 NE2d 79; *People v. Whitman* (1945) 185 Misc 459, 56 NYS2d 709, 177 P2d 918.

Suppression by prosecution after request by defense of accomplice's confession violated the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment where accomplice's confession admitted that he had actually strangled the victim. *Brady v. Maryland* (1963) 373 US 83, 10 L ed 2d 215; 83 S Ct 1194. Withholding of requested statement given to police which contained admission by a prosecution witness which was favorable and vitally material to defense was held to be a denial of due process. *US ex rel. Butler v. Maroney* (1963, CA3 Pa) 319 F2d 622. Suppression of evidence, including a bullet, that tended to show that the defendant did not fire the fatal shot where evidence is material as to punishment is a denial of due process. *US ex rel Almeida v. Baldi* (1952, CA3 Pa) 195 F2d 815, 33 ALR2d 1407, cert den 345 US 904, 97 L ed 1341, 73 S Ct 639, reh den 345 US 946, 97 L ed 1371, 73 S Ct 828. Refusal after request to produce pair of men's

shorts that did not belong to defendant, found in hotel room in prosecution for killing of a woman in that room held to be denial of due process where the evidence is material either as to guilt or as to punishment. *People v. Hoffman* (1965) 32 Ill 2d 96, 203 NE2d 873. See also *Barbee v. Warden, Maryland Penitentiary* (1964, CA4 Md) 331 F2d 842. Failure to reveal laboratory report favorable to accused held to be denial of the fairness required under the due process clause of the constitution. *People v. Whitmore*, (1965) 45 Misc 2d 506, 257 NYS2d 787. The court observed in *State v. Cook* (1965) 43 NJ 560, 206 A2d 350 in a case involving withholding of a medical report of the state's psychiatrist that a prosecuting attorney must deal fairly and may not constitutionally withhold material evidence which favors the defendant. In *People v. Preston* (1958) 13 Misc 802, 176 NYS2d 542 involving withholding of hospital and autopsy reports the court stated that any action or omission by the district attorney which prevents a defendant from presenting evidence which may establish his innocence may result in a denial of due process of law under the Fourteenth Amendment.

See also annotations at 33 ALR2d 1421 and 7 ALR3d 8, 32 and cases there annotated and discussed for extensive discussion and digest of law. The law is clear that suppression of evidence favorable to the accused in a criminal trial is a denial of due process.

In this case the prosecution through the police department systematically gathered up the bank records, all of the checks that had been cashed as a part of the alleged scheme of which the check which defendant purportedly uttered was a part and withheld that evidence from de-

fendant notwithstanding demands for a bill of particulars prior to the preliminary hearing (R. 2 & 3). An appeal to this court in an attempting to secure that information prior to preliminary hearing, (*Redmond v. Salt Lake City Court*, et al 17 U2d 95, 404 P2d 964), a demand for a bill of particulars prior to trial (R. 2-3), extensive arguments thereon (R. 597-620; R 606-618) and various motions, objections and requests for continuances (R. 358; R 401-403) and for declaration of a mistrial (R. 358; R 401-403) failed to produce said information required for defendant to prepare his defense.

In a recent Utah case in the Federal District Court for Utah it was held that the prosecution having caused the doctor to testify in such a manner as to leave impression that rape had been committed when he was of the opinion that sodomy but not rape had been committed on the victim constituted a suppression of evidence in violation of due process. The defendant was ordered released from custody, subject to further action by the state. *Turner v. Ward*, CA10 Utah 321 F2d 918.

## POINT II

**SUPPRESSION BY THE PROSECUTION OF THE EVIDENCE SOUGHT BY THE DEFENDANT IS CONTRARY TO THE PUBLIC POLICY OF THE STATE OF UTAH AS ANNOUNCED BY THE LEGISLATURE**

The legislature of the State of Utah has declared that the fair administration of justice requires that evidence sought by any party in any legal proceeding shall not be concealed by any person with intent to prevent its production at that legal proceeding and has made it a crime

for any person to destroy or conceal any such evidence. The question of admissibility of such evidence is properly left to the Court who may accept or reject the proffered evidence when it is offered at the legal proceeding. The intentional concealment of such evidence to prevent its "production" at the proceeding is denounced by law. 76-28-39, UCA, 1953 reads as follows:

"76-28-39. DESTROYING OR CONCEALING EVIDENCE. - Every person who, knowing that any book; paper, instrument in writing or other matter or thing is about to be produced in evidence, upon any trial, inquiry or investigation whatever authorized by law, willfully destroys or *conceals the same, with intent thereby to prevent it from being produced is guilty of a misdemeanor.*"

If Redmond had in some manner obtained possession of exhibit P-4 or other evidence which the prosecution wanted to produce at the trial of this matter, whether that information were actually admitted by the court when offered or not, we reasonably could have expected that a complaint would have been issued against him charging a violation of 76-28-39, UCA, 1953 (*supra*). The statute creates no exception in favor of the prosecution which would permit suppression or concealment of evidence by the prosecution of evidence which Redmond tried diligently to obtain for presentation at his trial, but which evidence was gathered up by the prosecution for purposes of concealing it from Redmond. If the true intent of the statute is to be carried out Redmond is entitled to access to any available evidence which he wants to produce in evidence at the trial, whether it is in the possession of a third party or the prosecution. The right to access to such evidence necessarily requires that it be

made available to him in sufficient time to permit him to investigate other evidence and testimony which may become known to him from that evidence. In this case it was necessary for Redmond to have access to the checks so that he could determine the identity of the persons who cashed the checks, interview those persons as possible witnesses and submit the checks to a handwriting expert to establish that the identity of the person who cashed each such check and placed the endorsement thereon was the same as the person who actually cashed the check with which he is charged in this case.

### POINT III

#### SUPPRESSION OF EVIDENCE BY PROSECUTION DEPRIVED DEFENDANT OF A "FAIR TRIAL" GUARANTEED BY THE DUE PROCESS CLAUSES OF THE UTAH AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS

A defendant in a criminal case comes into court clothed with the presumption of innocence (77-31-4, UCA, 1953) and the state is required to prove his guilt beyond a reasonable doubt or he is entitled to an acquittal (77-31-4, UCA, 1953). Reasonable doubt may result from either the failure of the prosecution to produce sufficient proof or from evidence adduced by the defendant which creates a reasonable doubt as to his guilt. In a recent case this court has stated that:

“. . . the rights of one accused of crime are in no wise to be belittled nor ignored. The fundamental purpose of a criminal trial is not solely to convict the accused. It is to seek the truth and administer justice . . .”  
*State v. Faux*, 9 U 2d 350, 345 P2d 186.

In this case Redmond was denied the right to obtain the names of witnesses who had cashed other checks of the same series, approximate amount, drawn by the same person to the same payee and cashed at about the same time by the use of the same identification. He was also denied to copies of those checks which had been gathered up and suppressed by the prosecution. This denied him access to that evidence which was vital to the preparation and presentation of his defense by enabling him to identify the persons who cashed the other similar check of the same who could be called as witnesses to establish the fact that Redmond not the person who cashed the checks. By a handwriting expert he could link the checks together to establish that all of the checks of that series, including the check charged in the information were cashed and endorsed by the same person (R601). Certainly such evidence would at least tend to establish a reasonable doubt in the minds of the jury as to his guilt. The Court erroneously ruled that such evidence was relevant but not material and refused to require the prosecution to permit Redmond to inspect those checks, yet permitted that very evidence to be introduced into evidence at the trial by the prosecution.

Didn't this action deny Redmond the rights guaranteed by 77-31-4, UCA, 1953 with respect to the burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt by refusing to permit him to establish evidence which may well have established a reasonable doubt in the minds of the jury. Wouldn't such evidence have convinced the jury of Redmonds innocence guaranteed by 77-31-4, UCA, 1953 when it denies a defendant the right to evidence favorable to the accused which he has requested from the prosecution and thereby

impliedly substitute a presumption of guilt by inferring that since the defendant is guilty anyway he cannot be prejudiced by refusal of discovery since all his counsel needs to do is to ask him what he did to prepare his defense.

#### POINT IV

### THE COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING DEFENDANT ACCESS TO CHECKS IN THE POSSESSION OF THE PROSECUTION TO PREPARE HIS DEFENSE

The Utah Statute pertaining to the right of a defendant to a bill of particulars (77-21-9), UCA, 1953) recognizes the right of a defendant to limited discovery in criminal cases by permitting the defendant to obtain additional:

“facts” which the court deems to be” . . . in the interest of justice . . .”

That statute sets a standard for the Court in applying the statute by stating:

“In determining whether such facts, and if so, what facts, should be so furnished, the court shall consider the whole record and the entire course of the proceedings against the defendant.”

This court recognized that discovery in criminal cases is properly the function of the court in *State v. Faux* pertaining to screening of transcript of grand jury hearing (supra). This procedure recognized that problems may exist in a particular case which might make it unwise to grant certain discovery in unusual criminal cases and leaves the question of whether unusual circumstances

exist in a particular case which would justify denying discovery to the sound discretion of the trial judge who is close to the problems in a particular case. Utah is one of the few states that has a workable procedure in the statutes which will permit a workable realistic criminal discovery by the defendant. This procedure has been conservatively applied and little used in Utah until the *State v. Faux* case (supra).

In England and Canada criminal discovery is virtually unlimited. No evidence is permitted at the trial that was not presented at the preliminary hearing without notice to the defendant. In 1792 pretrial inspection of documents was sought by a high official of the East India Company charged with malfeasance and corruption but was denied with the outraged comment of the then *Lord Chief Justice* that to grant such a request would "subvert the whole system of criminal law," however by 1883 *Sir James Stephen* was able to say that this was barbarianism not to be tolerated in a decent criminal procedure. See *Discovery in Federal Criminal Cases*, 33 F.R.D. 47 at page 59. The fears expressed by opponents of liberal discovery in criminal cases appear unfounded when we examine the results of the Canadian procedure and the similarity between the conditions in Canada and the United States. California has established extremely liberal discovery good results and without the problems foreseen by opponents of liberal discovery procedure. Our experience in liberal discovery procedure in civil cases is a good illustration of the benefits derived and the effectiveness of judicial supervision of discovery to prevent abuses. Criminal discovery need not be a one way street as illustrated by the California ruling that neither the

privilege against self-incrimination nor the attorney-client privilege are violated if the defendant is required to disclose in advance only what he himself intends to disclose at the time of the trial. *Jones v. Superior Court*, 58 Cal. 2d 56, 22 Cal. Pptr 879, 372 P. 2d 919.

Opponents of liberal criminal discovery argue that this is a one-way street with no benefits to the prosecution. Does not the prosecution benefit from a sharpening of the issues, exposure of untenable arguments, more efficient marshalling of evidence, disposing of more cases without trial and from the important public interest in the acquittal of the innocent. Similar benefits have been derived from statutes requiring notice to the prosecution of alibi and insanity defenses, which in itself is a form of discovery for the prosecution. Does not refusal of discovery eliminate the chance to prove the truth as well as the false. The argument that the dishonest accused may abuse rights of discovery by perjury, intimidation, etc. when such an argument prevents also prevents the honest accused from the opportunity to clear himself. In a recent case this Court stated:

“ . . . all fair-minded persons will concede that ultimately the full truth should be revealed to the court and jury. In such instance the truism should be recognized that the truth should have nothing to fear from light.” *State v. Faux* (supra)

Soviet prosecutors vigorously objected to adoption of the prevailing American rules of discovery in the Nuernberg war crime trial on grounds that they are just “not fair to defendants.” The result was compromise procedure which permitted the accused at those trial more liberal discovery than allowed under American Law, al-

though apparently narrower than Soviet or French practice sanctions. 33 F.R.D. 47 at P. 59.

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