1967

# The State of Utah v. Virgil S. Redmond : Brief of Respondent

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

**THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT ACCESS TO CHECKS IN THE POSSESSION OF THE PROSECUTION SINCE:**

**A. DUE PROCESS DOES NOT COMPEL PRODUCTION OF THE INFORMATION REQUESTED.**

**B. CRIMINAL DISCOVERY PROCEDURES DO NOT REQUIRE SUCH PRODUCTION.**

The appellant's contention that the denial of access to the requested checks is a violation of due process of law is without merit. The information supplied by the prosecution amply apprises the appellant of the charge against him. There is no dispute as to the check in question; the prosecution was based only on this single check. In **Leland v. Oregon**, 343 U.S. 790 (1952), the United States Supreme Court passed on the refusal of a state trial court to require

the district attorney to make available to defendant his confession to the crime charged. Also, in **Cicenia v. LaGay**, 357 U.S. 504 (1958), the same issue was considered by the United States Supreme Court and the contention was again rejected. The Court observed, 357 U.S. at 510:

. . . He argues that he was deprived of due process because New Jersey required him to plead to the indictment for murder without the opportunity to inspect his confession.

The Fourteenth Amendment does not reach so far. As stated by the Supreme Court of New Jersey in the earlier proceedings in this case, 6 N.J. 296, 299-301, 78 A.2d 568 at 570, 571, the rule in that State is that the trial judge has discretion whether or not to allow inspection before trial. This is consistent with the practice in many other jurisdictions. See, e.g., **State v. Haas**, 188 Md. 63, 51 A.2d 647; **People v. Skoyec**, 183 Wisc. 764, 50 NYS 2d 438; **State v. Clark**, 21 Wash.2d 774, 153 P.2d 297. In **Leland v. Oregon**, 343 U.S. 790, 801, 802, 96 L. ed. 1302, 1311, 72 St. Ct. 1002, this Court held that in the absence of a showing of prejudice to the defendant it was not a violation of due process for a state to deny counsel an opportunity before trial to inspect his client's confession. It is true that in **Leland** the confession was made available to the defense at the trial several days before its case was rested, whereas here the petitioner pleaded non vult without an opportunity to see the confession. We think that the principle of that case is nonetheless applicable. As was said in **Leland** (343 U.S. 801), although it may be the 'better practice' for the prosecution to comply with a request for inspection, we cannot say that the dis-

cretionary refusal of the trial judge to permit inspection in this case offended the Fourteenth Amendment.

In **People v. Rosario**, 9 N.Y. 2d 286, 173 N.E.2d 881 (1961), the appellant contended that he was denied due process of law and, in addition, that it was error for the trial judge to refuse to turn over to defense counsel statements given before trial by three prosecution witnesses. The New York Court of Appeals rejected the argument and affirmed the conviction. See also **People ex rel. Lemon v. Supreme Court**, 245 N.Y. 24, 156 N.E. 84 (1927), where Justice Cardozo ruled that there was no requirement for general discovery by the defendant in a criminal case. Some courts have felt that this constitutes the work product of the prosecuting attorney. **State v. Bunk**, 63 A.2d 842, 845 (N.J. 1949).

One of the most instructive opinions on the question of whether or not liberal discovery in criminal cases should be allowed was rendered in **State v. Tune**, 13 N.J. 203, 98 A.2d 881 (1953), by Chief Justice Vanderbilt, long a supporter of law reform. He stated, 98 A.2d at 884:

In criminal proceedings long experience has taught the courts that often discovery will lead not to honest fact-finding, but on the contrary to perjury and the suppression of evidence. Thus the criminal who is aware of the whole case against him will often procure perjured testimony in order to set up a false defense . . . Another result of full discovery would be that the criminal defendant who is informed of the

names of all the State's witnesses may take steps to bribe or to frighten them into giving perjured testimony or into absenting themselves so that they are unavailable to testify. Moreover, many witnesses, if they know that the defendant will have knowledge of their names prior to trial, will be reluctant to come forward with information during the investigation of the crime . . . . All these dangers are more inherent in criminal proceedings where the defendant has much more at stake, often his own life, than in civil proceedings. The presence of perjury in criminal proceedings today is extensive despite the efforts of the courts to eradicate it and it constitutes a very serious threat to the administration of criminal justice and thus to the welfare of the country as a whole . . . . To permit unqualified disclosure of all statements and information in the hands of the State would go far beyond what is required in civil cases; it would defeat the very ends of justice.

In considering the problem it must be remembered that in view of the defendant's constitutional and statutory protections against self-incrimination, the State has no right whatsoever to demand an inspection of any of his documents or to take his deposition, or to submit interrogatories to him.

. . . .

Except for its right to demand particulars from the defendant as to any alibi on which he intends to rely, Rule 2:5-7, the State is completely at the mercy of the defendant who can produce surprise evidence at the trial, can take the stand or not as he wishes, and generally can introduce any sort of unforeseeable evidence he desires in his own defense. To allow him to discover the prosecutor's whole case against him would be to make the prosecutor's task almost insurmountable.

Judge Learned Hand, in **United States v. Gars-son**, 291 Fed. 646 (S.D.N.Y. 1923), observed, 291 Fed. at 649:

Under our criminal procedure the accused has every advantage. While the prosecution is held rigidly to the charge, he need not disclose the barest outline of his defense. He is immune from question or comment on his silence; he cannot be convicted when there is the least fair doubt in the minds of any one of the twelve. Why in addition he should in advance have the whole evidence against him to pick over at his leisure, and make his defense, fairly or foully, I have never been able to see . . . . Our dangers do not lie in too little tenderness to the accused. Our procedure has always been haunted by the ghost of the innocent man convicted. It is an unreal dream. What we need to fear is the archaic formalism and the watery sentiment that obstructs, delays and defeats the prosecution of crime.

Consequently, it is manifestly apparent that there is no merit to appellant's contention that due process of law somehow requires this information. Such information was unrelated to the specific charge before the Court. The respondent submits that the above discussion is responsive to appellants points one through four.

## POINT II

**DISCOVERY PROCEDURES ARE ENTRUSTED TO THE SOUND DISCRETION OF THE TRIAL COURT AND THE EXERCISE OF THE COURT'S DISCRETION DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A DENIAL OF EQUAL PROTECTION.**

As stated in appellant's brief, this court has denounced as "dangerous" a procedure whereby the prosecution would "screen" evidence to be made available to the defendant and has held that this function is a judicial function to be performed by the court. **State v. Faux**, 9 Utah 2d 350, 345 P.2d 186 (1959). The respondent does not question this statement. It is incumbent on the court system to protect the rights of the accused in all cases. The trial court's function is to insure that the defendant is granted all the rights, privileges, and immunities guaranteed by the United States Constitution and the respective state constitutions. Who else is better qualified to do so? The respective functions of the prosecutor and the court was set out by the Washington Supreme Court in **State v. Clark**, 21 Wash. 2d 774, 778, 153 P.2d 297, 299 (1944):

A prosecuting attorney is under no obligation to submit any evidence he has in his possession to counsel for a person charged with crime . . . . The state is not required to submit its evidence to counsel for the accused. The accused is not, as a matter of right, entitled to have for inspection before trial evidence which is in the possession of the prosecution. **Such matter is peculiarly within the trial court's discretion, with which we will interfere only when there has been a manifest abuse of discretion.** [Emphasis added.]

The appellant was heard several times in his attempts to gain access to the information held by the prosecution (R. 358, 625). Appellant alleges that Utah Code Ann. § 77-21-9 (1953) permits him an additional discovery device. However, in **State v. Lack**, 118 Utah

128, 221 P.2d 852 (1950), this court observed that a bill of particulars was not available as a discovery device, stating, 118 Utah at 134:

Sec. (77-21-9, U.C.A. 1953) was designed to enable a defendant to have stated the particulars of the charge which he must meet, where the short form of indictment or information is used. It was not intended as a device to compel the prosecution to give an accused person a preview of the evidence on which the state relies to sustain the charge.

In **State v. Jamison**, 103 Utah 129, 134 P.2d 173 (1943), this court stated, 103 Utah at 132:

He demanded a further bill of particulars showing the exact time, the exact place, whether in or out of a car, and what other person, if any, was present. The court did not err in refusing this request. The purpose of a bill of particulars is to inform the defendant of the particulars of the offense sufficiently to enable him to prepare his defense . . . . The bill of particulars furnished informed him of the nature of the offense, the time and place of its commission, and was therefore sufficient. The bill of particulars need not plead matters of evidence.

The trial court found the complaint with the additional information supplied by the prosecution to be sufficient to apprise the appellant of the nature of the accusation. It is uniformly settled that a bill of particulars may not be used as a means of gaining information concerning the prosecution's evidence. Abbott, **Criminal Trial Practice** § 64 (4th ed.); Moreland, **Modern Criminal Procedure** 213-14 (1958). This rule is stated in Annot. 5 A.L.R.2d 444 at 457 (1949):

The particulars sought by an accused often are such that the furnishing of them would amount to a disclosure of the prosecution's evidence. In some instances the demand is obviously an exploratory maneuver. Except in those cases in which such information is essential to the accused in order to enable him to prepare for his defense, the courts are not inclined to favor the granting of such particulars.

### POINT III

#### THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN PERMITTING THE STATE TO PRESENT EVIDENCE OF THE CHECK PURPORTEDLY UTTERED BY APPELLANT.

The check on which the information was based purports to be one for the payment of money of Prudential Federal Adjusters, with the authorized signature being "C. Coon" (R. 20). This check has been referred to as plaintiff's Exhibit 6 in the record (hereinafter referred to as "P. 6"). A witness for the State identified P. 6 as the one appellant cashed at Makoff's (R. 303, 342). There is no issue that P. 6 was the check on which appellant was given a preliminary hearing (R. 624), that P. 6 was the check mentioned in the information (R. 624), and that P. 6 was the check which appellant was convicted of uttering (R. 115).

The information was amended several times: to add middle initial "S." to appellant's name (R. 596); to substitute the name of "Carl J. Coon" for that of "C. J. McCall" (R. 605); to change the date of the alleged uttering from the "8th" to the "11th" day of April (R. 606). In none of these instances did appel-

lant object to the amending of the information. In only one instance did the appellant object to an amendment and that objection was denied. The information showed the alleged event to have occurred in "1965"; the prosecution considered this a typographical error and requested it be changed to read "1964" (R. 624). At that time appellant admits that he had seen a copy of the check in question, since he attached a thermofax copy of it to one of his motions (R. 624).

The check mentioned in the information bore the name "Cal J. Coon" as the purported maker. Assuming arguendo that the State should have amended the information to read "Cal J. Coon," the fact that this was not done has not been a denial of appellant's rights under the law. At best, this discrepancy would be an immaterial variance and would not constitute reversible error. A mere variance in the letters with which the name of the victim of an offense is spelled is not fatal. **People v. Gormach**, 302 Ill. 332, 134 N.E. 756 (1922).

In **State v. Gorham**, 93 Utah 274, 72 P.2d 656 (1937) this court considered the rule of idem sonans as applied to forgery and uttering cases. It stated, 93 Utah at 288:

We concede it to be well established in criminal prosecutions for forgery that the named charged to be forged must be proved as alleged in the indictment or information . . . . It is not essential, however, that the names be spelled in the same way, or that they be correctly spelled. If substantially the same sound is preserved, a variant of orthography will make

no difference. The test always is, are the names as spelled idem sonans—have the same sound?

#### POINT IV

IT WAS NOT PREJUDICIAL ERROR TO ALLOW THE STATE TO CALL WITNESSES WHOSE NAMES HAD NOT BEEN ENDORSED ON THE INFORMATION.

Utah Code Ann. § 77-21-52 (1953) requires the prosecution to list on the face of the information the names of witnesses on whose evidence the information is based. This is done to allow the defendant an opportunity to learn on whose testimony the state relied in bringing the charge against the defendant. In the instant case, the four names of the witnesses who testified at the preliminary hearing were so endorsed on the information, thus satisfying the requirements of the statute.

The statute continues, “. . . the prosecuting attorney shall endorse on the information or indictment at such time as the **court may rule or otherwise prescribe** the names of such other witnesses as he purposes to call.” (Emphasis added.) It is clear, therefore, that the statute allows the trial court to determine when and if such names are to be endorsed. Since this matter is discretionary with the court, the failure to require the naming of prospective witnesses will stand unless the appellate court determines such actions to be an abuse of discretion. The respondent submits that appellant was not so prejudiced as to have required either a new trial or a continuance to prepare to meet this testimony.

The fact alleged by appellant that the district attorney promised to give appellant the names of any additional witnesses which might be called and then failed to do so was not such as to require a continuance in the interest of justice. The failure to keep this pledge may be a matter of faulty memory or even poor judgment; however, no case will be reversed because of technical errors not amounting to a deprivation of substantial justice. **State v. King**, 66 Ariz. 42, 182 P.2d 915 (1947).

#### POINT V

**IT IS NOT ERROR FOR A TRIAL COURT TO DETERMINE EVIDENCE TO BE ADMISSIBLE FOR ONE PURPOSE AFTER PREVIOUSLY RULING SUCH EVIDENCE INADMISSIBLE FOR ANOTHER PURPOSE.**

The point at issue discussed here concerns the right of trial courts to allow evidence on a given subject to reach the jury after having previously ruled the evidence inadmissible when offered for another purpose. This could well be characterized as nothing more than a change of the judicial mind or a re-determination of admissability which would be discretionary by the court and subject to reversal only when there is a showing of manifest injustice which results in substantial prejudice to the defendant. Here, the evidence in question, the driver's license and the check cashed at Albertson's was admitted for one purpose, i.e., the establishment of the identity of the appellant. It was not admitted to show propensity to commit the crime as this court has condemned on numerous occasions. As appellant points out in

Point IX of his brief, the courts will allow evidence of similar incidents when such tends to establish the identity of the person charged with the commission of the crime on trial. **People v. Harvey**, 235 N.Y. 282, 139 N.E. 268 (1923). That such was the case is not in dispute.

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